
Balancing C'omrnunit) and Com1rn:rce 

44 N SAN JOAQUIN STREET SUITE 374 STOCKTON CA 95202 209-468-3198 

MEETING AGENDA 

THURSDAY, AUGUST 8, 2024, 9:00 AM. 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS CHAMBERS 

44 NORTH SAN JOAQUIN STREET, 5rH FLOOR 
STOCKTON, CALIFORNIA 

Call to Order 
Announce Date and Time of Meeting for the Record 
Roll Call 
Pledge of Allegiance 

CONSENT ITEMS 

1. SUMMARY OF MINUTES OF JULY 11, 2024
(Possible Discussion and Possible Action by All Members)
Approve Summary Minutes of the Regular Meeting.

PUBLIC HEARING 

2. HIGHWAY 12 INVESTORS, LLC/LILVAL PROPERTIES, LTD. ANNEXATION TO SAN JOAQUIN
COUNTY COMMUNITY SERVICE AREA 31 (CSA-31), FLAG CITY AND CSA 31 - ZONE W
(Possible Discussion and Possible Action by Regular Voting Members)
Request to annex approximately 4.96 acres to County Service Area 31 - Flag City and Zone W

DISCUSSION ITEMS 

3. PRESENTATION ON LAFCO AND WATER SYSTEM CONSOLIDATION
(Possible Discussion and Possible Action by All Members)
Presentation will include bridging the gap between local and state regulators to stop and reverse
water system fragmentation.
Dr. Kristin Babson Dobbin, Assistant professor of cooperative extension, Dept. of Environmental
Science, Policy, and Management, UC Berkely, Presenter

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

4. Persons wishing to address the Commission on matters not otherwise on the agenda.

Public Comments on matters within the jurisdiction of the San Joaquin Local Agency Formation
Commission that are not listed on the Agenda. Please no personal attacks.

I IP ;-i "  ,, 

001



Written public comments will not be read during the Public Comment period. Written public comments 
submitted prior to the meeting will be routed to the Commission. All written public will be made part of 
the official record on file. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER COMMENTS 

5. Comments from the Executive Officer

COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 

6. Comments, Reports, or Questions from the LAFCO Commissioners

ADJOURNMENT 

* 

DISCLOSURE OF BUSINESS OR CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTIONS TO COMMISSIONERS 

Government Code Section 84308 requires that a Commissioner (regular or alternate) disqualify herself 
or himself and not participate in a proceeding involving an "entitlement for use" application if, within the 
last twelve months, the Commissioner has received $250 or morein business or campaign 
contributions from an applicant, an agent of an applicant, or any financially interested person 
who actively supports or opposes a decision on the matter. A LAFCo decision approving a proposal 
(e.g., for an annexation) will often be an "entitlement for use" within the meaning of Section 84308. 
Sphere of Influence determinations are exempt under Government Code Section 84308. 

If you are an applicant or an agent of an applicant on such a matter to be heard by the Commission and 
if you have made business or campaign contributions totaling $250 or more to any Commissioner in the 
past twelve months, Section 84308(d) requires that you disclose that fact for the official record of the 
proceeding. The disclosure of any such contribution (including the amount of the contribution and the 
name of the recipient Commissioner) must be made either: I) In writing and delivered to the Secretary of 
the Commission prior to the hearing on the matter, or 2) By oral declaration made at the time the hearing 
on the matter is opened. Contribution disclosure forms are available at the meeting for anyone who 
prefers to disclose contributions in writing. 

2 I I' a "  I' 

002



Agenda Item I 

Balancing Communi1:, nnd Commerce 

44 N SAN JOAQUIN STREET SUITE 374 STOCKTON CA 95202 209-468-3198

SUMMARY MINUTES 
July 11, 2024 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS CHAMBERS 
44 NORTH SAN JOAQUIN STREET, 5TH FLOOR 

STOCKTON, CALIFORNIA 

Chairman Johnson called the meeting to order at 9:01 a.m. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: 

MEMBERS ABSENT: 

Commissioners Diallo, Patti, Johnson, and Chairman Johnson 

Commissioners Breitenbucher, Villapudua 

ALTERNATE MEMBERS 
PRESENT: 

ALTERNATE MEMBERS 
ABSENT: 

Commissioners Barton, Ding 

Commissioner Dhatt 

OTHERS PRESENT: J.D. Hightower, Executive Officer; Legal Counsel Nubia Goldstein;
Mitzi Stites, Commission Clerk/Analyst; and Claudia lboa,
Administrative Assistant

CONSENT ITEMS 

The Chairman introduced Agenda Item No. 1, Summary of Minutes. 

Chairman Johnson opened the floor to Commissioner Comments 

No Comments were made. 

Chairman Johnson opened the floor to Public Comments 

No Comments were made. 

A motion was made by Commissioner Ding and seconded by Commissioner Patti to approve the Consent 
Items. 

Chairman Johnson asked for a Roll Call Vote: 

Ayes: Commissioners Barton, Ding, and Patti 

Noes: None 

Abstain: Commissioner Diallo and Chairman Johnson 

PHONE 209-468-3198 E-MAIL jdhightower@sjgov.org WEB SITE https://www.sjlafco.org 
003



DISCUSSIONS ITEMS 

2. PRESENTATION ON A SAN JOAQUIN INDEX
Presentation will include the Socio- Economics withing San Joaquin County
Dr. Thomas Pogue, Executive Director, Center for Business and Policy Research, University of the
Pacific, Presenter

Dr. Pouge, Executive Director, Center for Business and Policy Research, University of the Pacific, 
presented a PowerPoint presentation. University of the Pacific has compiled information on the Socio
Economics withing San Joaquin County. This information will be placed on the LAFCo Website and will 
be updated as needed. 

The Commission discussed the information that Dr. Pogue, Executive Director, Center for Business and 
Policy Research, University of the Pacific provided. 

3. PRESENTATION ON THE BROWN ACT AND CODE OF ETHICS
A review on the Brown Act and Code of Ethics
Nubia Goldstein, Partner, White Brener LLP, Presenter

Nubia Goldstein, Partner, White Brener LLP, presented the Brown Act and Code of Ethics 

The Commission discussed the Brown Act and Code of Ethics 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

4. Persons wishing to address the Commission on matters not otherwise on the agenda.

No Public Comments were made. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER COMMENTS 

5. Mr. J.D. Hightower, Executive Officer, informed the Commission that registration has opened for the
2024 Annual LAFCo Conference in October.

COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 

6. Comments, Reports, or Questions from the LAFCO Commissioners

No Comments were made 

ADJOURNMENT 

Chairman Johnson adjourned the meeting at 10:22 a.m. 

004



Agenda Item 2 

Balaneing Communit) and Commerec 

44 N SAN JOAQUIN STREET SUITE 374 STOCKTON, CA 95202 209-468-3198

DATE: 
TO: 
FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT 

August 8, 2024 
LAFCo Commissioners 
J.D. Hightower, Executive Officer

Highway 12 Investors Annexation to CSA 31 -
Flag City and CSA 31 - Zone W 

Recommendation: 
Find that the proposed annexation is a single 4.96 acre parcel located at 15314 
Thornton Road (APN 025-190-31) consistent with all applicable factors of CKH and 
that: 
1. The Mitigated Negative Declaration prepared by the County is the appropriate level

of environmental analysis and LAFCo independently concurs with the conclusions
of such; and

2. The site, 15314 North Thornton Road (APN 025-190-31) is uninhabited pursuant to
CKH Section 56375(b).

3. The proposed annexation to CSA 31 - Flag City will be for the interest of
landowners within the district and within the territory proposed to be annexed to the
district.

Location: 
15314 North Thornton Road is adjacent to the existing CSA-31 boundaries on two 
sides, to the southwest (Pilot Travel Center) and southeast (Loves Country Stores 
California). 

Pertinent Factors: 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 56668, the following factors are pertinent to 
the proposed annexation: 
(a) land area and land use, ... and drainage basins; proximity to other populated

areas; and the likelihood of significant growth in the area, and in adjacent
unincorporated areas, during the next 10 years.
The site has a County General Plan designation of Industrial Limited (IL) and is
zoned Industrial Warehouse (I-W). The proposed annexation to CSA 31 will allow
the development in accordance with an approved site plan for a freight truck
terminal with 96-space freight truck parking yard and a 4,900 square foot repair

PHONE 209-468-3198 E-MAIL jdhightower@sjgov.org WEB SITE https://www.sjlafco.org 
005



facility. This use capitalizes on the site's location along major freight routes of 1-5, 
State Route 12 as well as State Route 99. The location of the freight trucking yard 
location on Thornton Road is approximately 1,200 feet north of State Route 12 and 
2, 200 feet from the SR12/l-5 interchange. State Route 12 interchanges with State 
Route 99 approximately 7.5 miles to the east. 

The current land uses adjacent to the site include are complementary land uses 
(Loves and Pilot travel centers). CSA 31 is also home to uses that serve the 
motoring public such as restaurants, and hotels. The freight truck terminal is 
consistent with County development standards of such. There is a CSA 31 
drainage basin approximately 930 feet west of the site. CSA 31 being at the 
SR 12/1-5 interchange can reasonably be expected to grow incrementally as trips 
continue to grow along both corridors during the next 10 years. 

' I  

Legend 

ml Proposed Annexation 

CSA 31 • Flag City 

� CSA 31 • Zone W 

Parcels 

' �\ 

� 
"1, 

� ... 

... 

APN: 025-190-31 

15314 N. Thornton Road 

4.96 acres 

BANNER ST I 
! 

l ,

1/J

� 

r 

OEBROGGI RO 

KINGDON RD 

+ 

I L 
0 

a:, 

l'.) 

u. 

s 
NoScale 

I 

006



(b) The need for organized community services; the present cost and adequacy of
governmental services and controls in the area; probable future needs for those
services and controls; and probable effect of the proposed annexation on the
cost and adequacy of services and controls in the area and adjacent areas.

The freight truck terminal with the repair facility needs to have access to the services 
that CSA 31 provides. County Service Area (CSA) 31 -Flag City was established on 
October 13, 1981, and is currently authorized to provide water, sanitary sewer, storm 
drainage and street lighting services. The District's Zone W was established on June 
10, 2008, and is authorized to provide nitrate treatment services for domestic water. 
All necessary services to support the proposed freight truck yard can be provided by 
CSA 31. 

The 4.96 acre freight trucking terminal proposes impervious paved parking area that 
will need to drain storm water. The Project will connect to an existing storm drain 
system that provides service to approximately 60 acres of existing and future 
commercial development on the north side of State Route 12 in Flag City. Storm runoff 
is collected and conveyed via pipelines to a storm drain detention basin, 
approximately 950 feet west of the site. Currently the basin receives an estimated 
363,500 cubic feet of storm water during events with a total storage volume of 521,000 
cubic feet. The existing capacity of the overall storm drain system and detention basin 
will adequately serve the full commercial development buildout of CSA 31 north of SR 
12, including the Project. 

007



CSA 31 's water supply relies 100% on ground water pumps. The Project will connect 
to the existing domestic water system that provides service to approximately 155 
acres of existing and future commercial development on both sides of State Route 12 
in Flag City. Water is supplied to the Flag City Water System from three existing active 
wells that produce a combined approximately 3,300 gallons per minute (gpm). 

During upset conditions, the CSA well system is designed to reliably deliver 2, 159 
gallons per minute (gpm). During such events the fire flow is calculated by not 
counting the highest producing well. The project is expected to need 6.94 gpm on 
average with a fire flow demand of 1,500 gpm. The design demand of CSA 31, 
including the project is approximately 1,973 gpm. The table below shows that the 
existing capacity of the overall domestic water system is adequate to serve the full 
commercial development buildout of the water system area, including the Project. 

Flowrate 
Description (opm)<11 

Average Demand 214.9 
Maximum Dav Demand<2l 472.7 
Peak Hourly Demand<� 816.6 
Fire Flow 1,500.0 
Design Demand<�l 1,972.7 

Well #1 Capacity 
-

1,109.0 

- -
Well #2 Capacity 

�-
1

1
050.0 

--

Well #3 Capacity 1 150.0 
Design Supply<5l 2,159.0 

Notes: 
(1) gpm = gallons per minute
(2) Maximum Day Demand= 2.2 x Average Demand
(3) Maximum Hourly Damand = 3.8 x Avomge Domand
(4) Design Demand= greater of Maximum Day Demand + Fire Flow or Maximum Hourly Demand
(5) Design Supply = sum of well cape city less capacity of largest well

There is an existing CSA streetlight on the property's Thornton Road frontage. This is 
important due as the operating hours of the freight terminal operation as there are no 
limitations on the hours of operation. 

The Department of Environmental Health has determined that the property can 
support a septic system for wastewater generated by the freight truck yard and repair 
facility. 

CSA 31 has existing facilities designed and constructed with the capacity to serve the 
proposed use on this property. The annexation will allow additional cost recovery of 
these existing facilities. Additionally, the property owner has paid the buy-in fees for 
connection to CSA 31 facilities. 

008



(c) The conformity of both the proposal and its anticipated effects with both the
adopted commission policies on providing planned, orderly, efficient
patterns of urban development, and the policies and priorities in Section
56377.

The proposed truck freight terminal at 15314 North Thornton Road continues a
planned, orderly and efficient pattern of urban development in that the yard is
adjacent to other land uses complementary to freight movement. Being adjacent to
both Love's and Pilot truck stops and other travel oriented land uses within CSA 31,
this location will minimize the distance travelled for these complementary land uses.
The location of terminal in close proximity of the interchange of State Route 12 and
1-5 is a land use that meets the expectations of the motoring public.

Government Code Section 56377 in part states that in reviewing and approving or 
disapproving proposals that use of land for other than open-space uses shall be 
guided away from existing prime agricultural lands in open-space use toward areas 
containing nonprime agricultural lands. 

Section 56064 defines prime agricultural land as: 
(a) Land that qualifies, if irrigated, for rating as class I or class II in the USDA

Natural Resources Conservation Service land use capability classification,
whether or not land is actually irrigated, provided that irrigation is feasible.
Approximately 79% of the site, 3.92 acres, is class 3 when irrigated,
class 4 non-irrigated (Devries sandy loam) and is not considered Prime
Farmland. Approximately 1 acre has a soil classification has a USDA
land capability classification of 2 when irrigated (Acampo sandy loam).

009



(b) Land that qualifies for rating 80 through 100 Storie Index Rating.
The soil on the parcel has a Storie Index of 39 to 20, Grade 4, poor,
please see map below.

« au resuns zoom 

NRCS . SOIL STORIE INDEX DATA 

Storlnd 

Shape_Length 

Shape_Area 

Gr:ide Four • Poor 

50384.879 

26513560.615 

(c) Land planted with fruit or nut-bearing trees, vines, bushes, or crops that have
a nonbearing period of less than five years and that will return during the
commercial bearing period on an annual basis from the production of
unprocessed agricultural plant production not less than four hundred dollars
($400) per acre.
The parcel is within the Mokelumne River appellation of the Lodi
American Viticultural Area (AVA) and improved with a vineyard.
Although the the San Joaquin Agricultural Commissioner reported that
on average vineyards yielded approximately $4,800 per acre, the USDA
Natural Resource Conservation Service classifies the site as low for
American Wine Grape Varieties Site Desirability (Long).

010



0 

'-_ .... 

Lodi 

AVA 

... _ 

s 10 

to�c 

� 
I'\\ D1t'1>10 

) ,,, 

20 

r '-' 

� 

/" 

CID 

• �✓
a!) 

� / 

·-·

a:!) 
l! 

Stocltton .. 
CD CD 

CID 

Tdbles - Amcncan Wmc Grape Vaneues Site 0�1rah1hty (Long) - Summary Hy HcJp Umt e 

Summary by Hap Unit - San Joaquin County, California (CA077) 

Summary by Map Unit - San Joaquin County, California (CA077) 

Map unit 
symbol 

101 

149 

Map unit name 

Acampo sandy loam, 0 to 2 percent 
slopes 

Devries sandy loam, drained, 0 to 2 

percent slopes, MLRA 16 

Totals for Area of Interest 

Rating 

Low 

Component name 
(percent) 

Acampo (85%) 

Low Devries (85%) 

Rating reasons 
(nume:rk values) 

Growing season 
length (0.10) 

Soil reaction (0.61) 
Site and soil features 
{0.72) 
Slope {0.84) 
Growing season 
length {0.10) 
Depth to bedrock 
(0.29) 
Site and soil features 
(0.53) 
Soil reaction (0.68) 
Slope (0.80) 

Acres in 

AOI 

1.2 

4.2 

5.3 

Percent of 

AOI 

22.0% 

78.0% 

100.0% 

Table - Am�ncan Wine Grape Varid1e'!t Site Oo1r.tb1hty (Long) - Summary by Ratmg Vdlue 0 

Summary by Rating Value 

Summary by Rating Value 

Rating 

Low 

Totals for Area of Interest 

Acres in AOI 

5.3 

5.3 

Percent of AOI 

® 

100.0% 
100.0% 

011



Although 79% of the site does not meet the physical characteristics of prime 
agricultural land defined by CKH, it does meet the economic return factor of $400 
per acre. As part of the routine implementation of the County Development Title 
(Section 9-1080) the County has conditioned the project to participate in the 
adopted agricultural mitigation fee program. Staff concurs with the finding of the 
CEQA Mitigated Negative Declaration that this addresses the loss of prime 
farmland and also addresses the loss of prime agricultural land pursuant to the 
CKH. 

(g) A regional transportation plan adopted pursuant to Section 65080.
The annexation of the site to CSA 31 is consistent with the San Joaquin
Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) in that by being adjacent to two (2) truck
stops and in close proximity to the interchange of State Route 12 and 1-5, the
proposed freight truck terminal implements RTP Strategies 4 and 9:

Strategy No. 4: Improve air quality by reducing transportation-related 
emissions; in that minimal emissions will be emitted gain access to and from 
the regional transportation system. 

Strategy No. 9: Promote safe and efficient strategies to improve the 
movement of goods by air, water, rail, and roadway; in that complementary 
land uses needed for freight movement are located at the two adjacent truck 
stops and other nearby land uses within CSA 31. 

(k) The ability of the ... receiving entity to provide the services that are the subject
of the application to the area, including the sufficiency of revenues for those
services following the proposed boundary change.
San Joaquin County Department of Public Works is the applicant for the
annexation to CSA 31 - Flag City and CSA 31 - Zone W and have already
received payment of necessary fees for connection to existing infrastructure.

(I) Timely availability of water supplies adequate for projected needs as specified in
Section 65352.5.
As discussed above, CSA 31 operates 3 existing water wells and CSA 31 -
Zone W design capacity includes the forecasted needs of the freight truck
terminal operation's fire flow demand.

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Annexation Boundary Map and Description
2. Resolution of Approval
3. San Joaquin Board of Supervisors Resolution R-24-74

012



Attachment 1 

SEC.11, T.3N, R.5E, M.D.B.&M. 

LEGEND: 

A.P.N. ASSESSOR'S PARCEL NUMBER 
S.J.C.R. SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS 

PM 
M 
(R) 

PARCEL MAP, BOOK-PAGE, S.J.C.R. 
RECORDED MAP, BOOK-PAGE, S.J.C.R. 
RADIAL BEARING 

1---=::::::--.......a,--it-t---.--+----, 12 1---� 

BANNER ST 

LAFCO FILE# _____ _ 

A.P.N.: 025-190-150 
6015 W STATE RT 12 

VICINITY MAP 

DESIGNATED REMAINDER (PORTION) 
22-PM-171, S.J.C.R.
A.P.N.: 025-190-310

4.96 ACRES ± 
15314 N THORNTON ROAD 

NOT TO SCALE 

, � 

�, ' 
N56°51'48"W 123.49' 

�- � 

�<r;,-r A.P.N.: 025-190-320 \\ 

NOTE: 

-� 15250 N THORNTON � 
R=1242.00' L=268.65' ��� ROAD 

\\ 6=12°23'36" 

�� 
� 

CH=S50° 40'00"E 268.13' 
, EXISTING C.S.A. NO. 31 AND✓\ 

� 

�13 
0 

, 
NO. 31 (ZONE W) LIMITS 

� 

R=1242.00' L=316.58' 
6=14°36'16" 
CH=N37°10'04"W 315.72' 

EXISTING C.S.A. LIMITS HAVE 

�o���� 

BEEN EXAGGERATED ON THIS 
PLAT FOR CLARITY. 

P.O.C. 
(WESTERLY CORNER 

O' 

PARCEL 4, 22-PM-30, S.J.C.R.) 

DATE 6/14/2024 
DESIGN KJG 
DRAWN SRS 
JOB NO. 21007 

EXHIBIT "8" 

••• 
SIEGFRIED 

■ STIUJCTURAl 

■ LANDSCAPE 

ARCtfrTECTURE 

■ SURVEYING 

■ Pl.ANNING 

■ ATHLETIC FACIUTY 

DESIGN 

3428 Brookside Road, Stocklon, California 95219 
209-943-2021 www.soe frieden .com Fx: 209-942-0214 

SCALE: 
SHEET 

150' 

SCALE: 1"=150' 

AS SHOWN 

1 

OF: 

013



DATE: 6/14/24 

DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED 

HIGHWAY 12 INVESTORS LLC ANNEXATION TO THE C.S.A. NO. 31 AND C.S.A. NO. 31 (ZONE W), SAN 

JOAQUIN COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

ALL THAT CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY SITUATE IN THE COUNTY OF SAN JOAQUIN, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, LYING 

WITHIN SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 3 NORTH, RANGE 5 EAST, MOUNT DIABLO BASE AND MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED 

AS FOLLOWS: 

A 4.96 ACRE PORTION OF THAT CERTAIN 10.00 ACRE DESIGNATED REMAINDER AS SHOWN ON THAT CERTAIN 

PARCEL MAP FILED IN BOOK 22 OF PARCEL MAPS AT PAGE 171, RECORDED ON SEPTEMBER 4, 2003, AS 

DOCUMENT NUMBER 2003-203033, SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS, SAID REAL PROPERTY BEING MORE 

PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING AT THE MOST WESTERLY CORNER OF THAT CERTAIN PARCEL 4 AS SHOWN ON THAT CERTAIN 

PARCEL MAP FILED IN BOOK 22 OF PARCEL MAPS AT PAGE 30, RECORDED ON SEPTEMBER 18, 2001, SAN 

JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS, SAID CORNER ALSO BEING THE SOUTHERNMOST CORNER OF THE ABOVE SAID 

DESIGNATED REMAINDER, AND LYING ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF THE 84-FOOT-WIDE REALIGNED THORNTON 

ROAD; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID EASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF THORNTON ROAD, ALONG 

A CURVE CONCAVE SOUTHWESTERLY, HAVING A RADIUS OF 1,242.00 FEET TO WHICH POINT A RADIAL LINE 

BEARS SOUTH 60
°

08'40" WEST; THENCE THROUGH SAID CURVE ALONG A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 14°36'16", A 

DISTANCE OF 316.58 FEET WITH A RESULTANT CHORD BEARING NORTH 37
°

10'04" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 

315.72 FEET, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE, FROM THE POINT OF BEGINNING: COURSE 1. 

CONTINUING ALONG SAID CURVE HAVING A RADIUS OF 1,242.00 FEET THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 

12
°23'36", A DISTANCE OF 268.65 FEET, WITH A RESULTANT CHORD BEARING NORTH 50

°40'00" WEST, A 

DISTANCE OF 268.13 FEET; THENCE, COURSE 2. NORTH 56
°51'48" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 123.49 FEET TO THE 

WESTERNMOST CORNER OF SAID DESIGNATED REMAINDER, THENCE LEAVING SAID EASTERLY RIGHT-OF

WAY LINE OF THORNTON ROAD ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID DESIGNATED REMAINDER, COURSE 3. 

NORTH 33
°

08'12" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 499.97 FEET TO THE NORTHERNMOST CORNER OF SAID DESIGNATED 

REMAINDER, THENCE ALONG THE NORTHEASTERLY LINE OF SAID DESIGNATED REMAINDER, COURSE 4. 

SOUTH 56
°

51'48" EAST, A DISTANCE OF 460.61 FEET, THENCE LEAVING SAID NORTHEASTERLY LINE, COURSE 

5. SOUTH 40
°

44'09" WEST, A DISTANCE OF 533.60 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

CONTAINING 4.96 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

SUBJECT TO ALL RIGHTS-OF-WAY AND EASEMENTS OF RECORD. 

THIS DESCRIPTION WAS PREPARED BY ME OR UNDER MY DIRECTION IN CONFORMANCE WITH THE 

PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYORS' ACT. 

KEVIN J. GENASCI, P.L.S. 8660 

JUNE 14, 2024 

014



ATTACHMENT 2 

RESOLUTION NO. 24-1539 

BEFORE THE SAN JOAQUIN LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
APPROVING THE HIGHWAY 12 INVESTORS ANNEXATION TO COMMUNITY 

SERVICE DISTRICT 31 - FLAG CITY (LAFC 16-24) 

WHEREAS, the above entitled proposal was authorized to be filed by San Joaquin County 
Resolution R2-24-74 on April 9, 2024 and filed on June 11, 2024 with a Certificate of Filing issued 
on July 8, 2024 by the Executive Officer for processing in accordance with the Local Government 
Reorganization Act; and 

WHEREAS, the Highway 12 Investors boundary is co-terminus with the boundaries of a 
single parcel of land, 15314 North Thornton Road, San Joaquin Assessor Parcel Number 025-190-
31; and 

WHEREAS, 15314 North Thornton Road is improved with vineyards and is located within 
the Mokelumne Appellation of the Lodi American Viti cultural Area (AVA); and 

WHEREAS, there are no registered voters residing on the parcel; and 

WHEREAS, the annexation area is located adjacent to the northern edge of the existing 
boundary of Community Service Area 31 - Flag City; and 

WHEREAS, the property owner proposes to develop a 96 freight truck parking lot with a 
4,900 square foot repair facility on the site within two (2) years consistent with the San Joaquin 
County general plan designation of Industrial Warehouse (I-W) facilitated by the water, sanitary 
sewer, storm drainage and street lighting services provided by CSA 31; and 

WHEREAS, there is existing infrastructure with capacity to serve the planned development 
that will create additional revenues to pay for operational cost of CSA 31, therefore annexation to 
CSA 31 is in the best interest of landowners within the district and within the territory proposed to 
be annexed to the district; and 

WHEREAS, San Joaquin County, as the lead agency for the Project, has prepared an Initial 
Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) for the project pursuant to and in accordance with 
the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA); and 

WHEREAS, the IS/MND was made available for the statutory 30-day public review period 
on December 16, 2022, and public comments received were posted and responded to by San Joaquin 
County; and 

WHEREAS, San Joaquin County adopted the IS/MND and a Mitigation Monitoring and 
Reporting Program (MMRP) with the adoption of Resolution No. R-24-74; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to State Code of Regulations, Section 15096, the Commission is a 
responsible agency that considered the negative declaration prepared by San Joaquin County and the 
Commission has evaluated it's own conclusions as to whether and how to approve the proposed 
annexation; and 

015



Resolution 1539 August 8, 2024 

WHEREAS, the Commission took into consideration all factors of Government Code 
Section 56668 and has conditioned the reorganization in accordance with these factors; and, 

WHEREAS, the Commission specifically considered the factors described in Government 
Coe Section 56668(a), the land area and land use and drainage basins; proximity to other populated 
areas; and the likelihood of significant growth in the area, and in adjacent incorporated and 
unincorporated areas, during the next 1 0  years; and 

WHEREAS, the Commission specifically considered the factor described in Government 
Code Section 56668(d), the reorganization providing planned, orderly, efficient patterns of urban 
development, and the policies and priorities in Section 56377 in that the site is adjacent to existing 
truck stop operations on two sides and there are no residential land uses near the site; and 

WHEREAS, the Commission specifically considered the factor described in Government 
Code Section 56668(k), the ability of CSA 31 to provide the services that are the subject of the 
application to the annexation area in that the party of interest has paid necessary connection fees to 
CSA 31 ; and 

WHEREAS, the Commission specifically considered the factor described in Government 
Code Section 56668(g), consistency with the San Joaquin Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) in 
that the annexation to CSA 31 will provide services that support a planned, well-ordered, and 
efficient urban development pattern for goods and freight movement; and 

WHEREAS, the Commission specifically considered the factor described in Government 
Code Section 56668(1), the timely availability of water supplies adequate for projected needs in that 
the CSA 31 anticipated this property being annexed and the water system was designed with 
adequate capacity to provide necessary water to properties north of Highway 12, including the 
subject property; and 

WHEREAS, the CEQA Commission held a public hearing on the proposed reorganization 
on August 8, 2024 in the Board of Supervisors Chambers, 44 North San Joaquin Street, 61h Floor, 
Stockton, CA, pursuant to notice of hearing which was published, posted and mailed in accordance 
with State law; and 

WHEREAS, at said hearing the Commission heard and received evidence, both oral and 
written regarding the proposal, and all persons were given an opportunity to be heard; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed reorganization area does not have any registered voters residing 
within it's boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Commission has, in evaluating the proposal considered the report submitted 
by the Executive Officer, the factors set forth in Section 56668 of the California Government Code 
and testimony and evidence presented at the public hearing held before and on August 8, 2024. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the San Joaquin Local Agency Formation Commission DOES 
HEREBY RESOLVE, DETERMINE, AND ORDER as follows: 

016



Resolution 1539 August 8, 2024 

Section 1. The Highway 12 Investors Annexation to CSA 31 boundary is as shown on 
Attachment I of this resolution. 

Section 2. Certifies that, as a Responsible Agency, the Commission has independently 
reviewed and considered the Highway 12 Investors Annexation MND (State Clearinghouse No. 
2022120454) and concurs with the findings of the CEQA MND and adequacy of the MMRP as 
certified by San Joaquin County. 

Section 3. 
Section 56079.5. 

Finds that the proposal is uninhabited pursuant to State Government Code 

Section 4. Finds that no written protests were received by any landowner or registered 
voter within the project area. 

Section 5. The Annexing Property is within the scope of the MND for the Highway 12 
Investors Annexation (SCH# 2022120454) as the MND expressly contemplates the annexation to 
CSA 31 proposed by Property Owner and adequately addresses all significant impacts therefrom. 

Section 6. Pursuant to California Government Code Section 56663, the commission waives 
protest proceedings pursuant to State Government Code Part 4 (commencing with Section 57000). 

Section 7. Pursuant to California Government Code Section 56668.3, the Commission 
considered all pertinent factors associated with the Highway 12 Investors Annexation to CSA 31 
and the annexation is hereby conditionally approved subject to the conditions of the San Joaquin 
Department of Environmental Health. 

Section 8. San Joaquin County, shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless SJLAFCo, its 
agents, officers, and employees, from any claim, action, or proceeding against SJLAFCo, its agents, 
officers, and employees, to attack, set aside, void or annul SJLAFCo's approval of the Annexation, 
adoption of this Resolution, or any of the terms and conditions set forth herein. 

Section 9. As allowed under Government Code Section 56107 and Government Code 
Section 56883, the Commission authorizes the Executive Officer to make non-substantive 
corrections to this Resolution to address any technical defects, clerical errors, mistakes, 
irregularities, or omissions. 

Section l 0. If any provision of this Resolution or the application of any such provision to 

any person or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or 
applications of this Resolution that can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, 
and to this end the provisions of this Resolution are severable. 

Section 11. The Commission finds that the proposed annexation, as amended, to CSA 31 
will be for the interest of landowners within the District and to the territory proposed to be annexed 
to CSA 31. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this & th day of August 2024 by the following roll call vote: 

017



Resolution 1539 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ATTEST: 

MITZI STITES, COMMISSION CLERK 
San Joaquin Local Agency Formation Commission 

August 8, 2024 

PETER M. JOHNSON, CHAIRMAN 
San Joaquin Local Agency 

Formation Commission 

018



Attachment 3 

BEFORE THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE COUNt r u� �AN JUAUUIN 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

R E S OL U T I O N

R-24-74

Authorization to Initiate Annexation of One Parcel 
Into County Service Area 31 - Flag City and County Service Area 31 - Zone W 

WHEREAS, County Service Area (CSA) 31 - Flag City was established on October 13, 
1981, and is currently authorized to provide water, sanitary sewer, storm drainage and street 
lighting services; and, 

WHEREAS, CSA 31 - Zone W was established on June 10, 2008, and is authorized to 
provide nitrate treatment services for domestic water; and, 

WHEREAS, an application for services for the subject parcel has been received and 
deemed appropriate; and, 

WHEREAS, all required documents and fees have been submitted by the applicant. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that this Board of Supervisors hereby declares its 
intent to annex Assessor's Parcel No. 025-190-31, consisting of 4.96 acres, into the boundaries 
of CSA 31 - Flag City and CSA 31 - Zone W, as set forth in Exhibit "A". 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Department of Public Works is authorized and 
directed to submit an application to the San Joaquin County Local Agency Formation 
Commission requesting expansion of the sphere of influence and annexation of the above
referenced parcel into CSA No. 31 - Flag City and CSA 31 - Zone W. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED 
Supervisors, to wit: 

April 9, 2024 , by the following vote of the Board of 

AYES: CANEPA, PATTI, DING, RICKMAN, VILLAPUDUA 

NOES: NONE 

ABSENT: NONE 

ABSTAIN: NONE 

ATTEST:RACHEL DeBORD 
Clerk of the Board of Supervisors 
County of San Joaquin 
State of California 

By Rachel DcBord 

38636.docx 

l\liguc-1 .\. \'illapudu� 

MIGUEL A. VILLAPUDUA 
Chairman, Board of Supervisors 
County of San Joaquin 
State of California 

019



I 

f 

Legend 

m Proposed Annexation

CSA 31 - Flag City 

� CSA31-ZoneW 

---i Parcels 

l 

APN: 025-190-31
15314 N. Thornton Road

4.96 acres

DE BROGGI RD 

\ 
KINGDON RD 

+ 

r 

.j. 

I 
l 

I 

i i _ l I 

I PRCPOSED ANfoEXA11CJN N10 COLMY SERVICE AR&\ 31 • RAG CITY I . AND COUNTY SERVICE AREA 31 - ZONE W 

;::I 
============

=D

=

atv

=

e:i

=

:

im

=

a

=

�;

=

�

=

1
,

=

:

p

=

02

=

4 

============
==:'

�� SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY JIJa...l-
oepartmentot PublicVVorks, 1810 E Hazelton Ave., Stockton, CA95205 Warld:Da fnr YOU 

The Counly ol San Jo■qutn does not warrant the accuracy completenen or su .. bllll., lor any panicul■r pu1poH 

The Information on lh1s map it not nttnded to reptaee enginffnng hnanc.al or pnmary records research 

Pelh S \SPE COf$1'0_Alf_O,st11cts\ANNEXATIONS & BUY-IN FEESV.PN 025-190-31 (CSA, 31}-HutHJl'\MneK_CSA_31_HuMr\BO_PKG_CSA_37_Ann.x\Dral'ts\trash\V,cmity M•p-CSA 31-HutJ� 3 mxd 020



Agenda Item 3 

LAFCoand 
Water System 
Consolidation: 

Bridging the gap between 

local and state regulators 
to stop and reverse 

water system fragmentation 

021



UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA 
Agriculture and Natural Resources 

Authors 
Kristin Dobbin, Assistant Professor of Cooperative Extension at the University of California 

Berkeley and the Division of Agriculture and Natural Resources 

Justin McBride, PhD Candidate in Urban Planning at the University of California Los Angeles 

Acknowledgements 
This report was made possible by generous funding from the University of California Agriculture 

and Natural Resources (Award# 23-7000). We thank Emily Scott for the design of this report 

and Sunny Singh al for his help with editing. We would also like to thank the following participants 

in the consolidations research advisory committee for helping to inform the design and 

implementation of the project: Michael Claiborne, Nataly Escobedo Garcia, Blanca Surgeon, 

Sara Luquin, Carlos Bravo, Janaki Anagha, Katrina Hiott, Sergio Carranza, Reyna Rodriguez, 

Bryan Potter, Allisa Hastie, Khalid Osman, and Greg Pierce. Many additional external reviewers 

from around the state provided valuable feedback on our initial draft for which we are extremely 

grateful. Any errors are ours alone. 

For more information contact Kristin Dobbin at kbdobbin@berkeley.edu 

022



Introduction 

In 2012, California passed AB 685 enshrining 

the human right to water into state law. Achieving 

this vision is not a simple task, instead it requires 

ongoing commitment and investment by state 

legislators and regulators. Water system 

consolidation, or the merging of two or more water 

systems, has increasingly become a focus of these 

efforts due to a wide array of potential benefits. 

This is particularly true for the state's very small 

water systems, many of which struggle to achieve 

consistent regulatory compliance. In the hopes 

of halting and reversing the proliferation of small 

water systems, California has implemented policy 

changes including developing financial incentives 

for larger water systems to consolidate small 

systems, introducing new powers to mandate 

consolidation under specific circumstances, and 

working to limit permits for new water systems 

in favor of extending existing systems. With 

these efforts as well as unprecedented financial 

investments in consolidation through the new Safe 

and Affordable Funding for Equity and Resilience 

(SAFER) program, the state has reduced the total 

number of public water systems by more than 3% 

in the last 9 years.1

Despite these successes, implementing 

consolidations in an efficient and equitable manner 

continues to be a difficult task. A large array of 

challenges from local politics to funding regularly 

delay and sometimes prevent consolidations, both 

between existing systems and for systems intended 

to serve new industrial or residential development. 

This report focuses on one such challenge, the 

need to coordinate and align actions by state and 

local regulators. Under the Federal Safe Drinking 

Water Act, the state of California is responsible for 

ensuring compliance among public water systems. 

This role has put the State Water Resources Control 

Board (SWRCB) at the forefront of efforts to reduce 

the number of small water systems. Nonetheless, 

changes to drinking water services often impli

cate changes to local government, thus requiring 

consultation with, and sometimes the approval of, 

local regulators. 

In particular, in California, county Local Agency 

Formation Commissions, known as LAFCos, are 

regional planning and regulatory agencies tasked 

with "coordinating logical and timely changes in 

local government boundaries, conducting special 

studies that review ways to reorganize, simplify and 

streamline governmental structure and preparing 

a sphere of influence for each city and special 

district within each county."2 In this capacity, they

have a critical role to play in promoting and imple

menting water system consolidations for existing 

and proposed water systems. Because LAFCos 

regulate boundaries between most public agencies, 

they often have the final say over water system 

consolidation projects that involve a local govern

ment entity including special districts and cities. 

Yet in practice, many water system consolidations 

are conceived of and planned without input from 

local planners and may only come before LAFCo 

for formal review after significant resources 

have already been invested in the project. Much 

the same can be said for local development plans. 

To the extent a new development relies on a new 

public water system, local project proponents may 

find themselves at odds with state regulators who 

wish to avoid the creation of additional small water 

systems they perceive as unsustainable. In these 

cases, there is significant potential for frustration 

on all sides when plans are delayed or must be 

changed due to inadequate coordination, conflicting 

policies and/or competing priorities. 

These examples highlight what can be a wide 

gulf between drinking water regulators and LAFCos 

when implementing water system consolidations, 

whether for existing or new systems. Though 

intertwined in practice, the two often approach 

questions of water system fragmentation with 

distinct perspectives and priorities. Such differ

ences can reverberate beyond individual projects, 

impacting broader efforts to rationalize drinking 

water services, increase equitable access, and 

ensure sustainability under a changing climate. 

Overwhelmingly LAFCos and state drinking water 

regulators share goals for promoting equitable, 

LAFCo and Water System Consolidation 3 

023



efficient, and sustainable local drinking water 

service. Yet we are a long way from the policy 

alignment necessary to stop, let alone reverse, 

the pro I if eration of small water systems. 

Drawing on interviews with state regulators 

and LAFCo representatives, input from state 

technical assistance providers, and a survey 

of county LAFCo Executive Officers, this report 

aims to: 1) Highlight important intersections 

between LAFCos' local planning and regulatory 

roles and state policies and programs that 

prioritize water system consolidation as a safe 

drinking water solution; 2) Identify challenges at 

these intersections that limit progress on shared 

goals; and 3) Provide recommendations to begin 

to address these challenges. 

Section I: Understanding LAFCos and Their Role in 
Water System Consolidation 

About LAFCos 

Local Agency Formation Commissions (LAFCos) 

are county-specific independent governmental 

agencies charged with conducting studies 

to evaluate, reorganize, and streamline local 

government functions and services. LAFCos were 

first created by the State of California in 1963 to 

manage sprawl. Subsequent legislative updates 

have gradually increased the scope of LAFCo powers 

and authorities over time. The most important of 

these updates occurred in 2000 with the passage 

of the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act (CKH).3 Though

amended periodically, the CKH Act remains the most 

important reference for understanding LAFCo 

powers and processes. 

Each LAFCo is governed by a commission 

comprised of elected and appointed individuals. 

Every LAFCo includes representatives of the 

county's Board of Supervisors and city councils 

from cities within the county boundaries along 

with one appointed member of the general public. 

The Cortese Knox Hertzberg Act of 2000 

Many LAFCos also include board members from 

special districts within the county. The exact 

structure of individual LAFCo commissions 

varies, but a typical commission has at least five, 

and up to seven, members who serve four-year 

terms. Though geographically coterminous with 

every county, LAFCos are politically independent 

from the county government where they 

operate. Commission decisions are not subject 

to oversight, review, or approval by the County 

Board of Supervisors. 

LAFCo commission meetings are public 

meetings, and as such must be regularly held, open 

to the public, and are subject to the Ralph M. Brown 

Act.4 The work of the commission is carried out

by staff, led by an Executive Officer. Staffing levels 

vary substantially between counties. Some have 

full-time Executive Officers and up to eight additional 

full-time staff members, and others have only part

time Executive Officers and minimal, or even no, 

additional staff (See Appendix). 

The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act of 2000 was the most recent major overhaul of LAFCo powers. It establishes 

procedures for local government changes of organization, including city incorporations, annexations to a city 

or special district, and city and special district consolidations. In carrying out these functions, the Act 

specifically directs LAFCos to: 

• Limit urban sprawl;

• Ensure orderly boundaries between governmental agencies;

• Preserve open space and agricultural lands.

Though LAFCos may have other priorities related to local political preferences, these three mandates are 

shared to some extent by all LAFCos in accordance with state law. 

LAFCo and Water System Consolidation 4 

024



LAFCos are funded from two primary sources. 

First, all LAFCos receive annual funding from the 

local governments represented on the commission 

(county, cities, and sometimes special districts). 

The size of these contributions varies by county, as 

each LAFCo sets its own budget. Second, LAFCos 

may charge fees for some types of applications 

or services. These fees are typically borne by the 

relevant agencies or other applicants (such as 

landowners) applying for the action in question, for 

example, an adjustment to a district's jurisdictional 

boundary. 

LAFCos and water system consolidations 

To avoid the duplication of services and ensure 

that growth occurs in an orderly fashion, one of 

LAFCos' primary roles is to regulate and approve 

changes to the jurisdictional boundaries and 

planning boundaries of all cities and most special 

districts (the most notable exception is school 

districts). As a result, LAFCo will be involved in any 

consolidation project if one or more of the systems 

- either consolidating or receiving - is a public

agency, specifically a city or a special district.5

If a consolidation project involves no such water

systems, there is no formal role for LAFCo, although

if the consolidation involves one or more Investor

Owned Utilities, the California Public Utilities

Commission (CPUC) will play a similar oversight role.

If a project involves both public and private water

systems, LAFCo may only be involved in certain

components. For example, if an Investor-Owned

Utility takes over water provision in a community

previously served by a local agency (as in the case

of the Sativa Water District in Los Angeles County),

LAFCo would be involved in the dissolution of the

public district but not in the "annexation" by the

Investor-Owned Utility of the new service area

which would instead be approved by the CPUC.

It is important to keep in mind that while a 

LAFCo's purview includes districts that provide 

drinking water, LAFCos do not primarily regulate 

drinking water providers or their day-to-day 

operations. Rather, their role is to ensure that 

drinking water provision happens in an orderly 

manner that does not create additional burdens 

on residents, does not conflict with established 

local policies or encourage unwanted urban 

sprawl, and does not create wasteful duplication 

of services. In other words, in many cases LAFCos 

will be concerned with the question: How will this 

consolidation fit into our broader planning priorities 

for the county? 

The answer to this question will largely depend 

on the structure of the proposed consolidation. 

Water system consolidation can be accomplished 

in many ways including not only district or city 

consolidation but also through extensions of 

service, annexations, etc. (See 'Bridging differences 

1n terminology' box). Any one of these procedures 

may also trigger reorganizations or dissolutions, 

all of which may have distinct procedures and 

requirements for implementation. In some cases, 

LAFCos have a preferred pathway for how to 

accomplish consolidations that will need to be 

adhered to in order to receive the necessary 

approvals. However, in other cases, LAFCos may 

prefer to make recommendations or determinations 

based on the specifics of an individual project. 

We recently surveyed LAFCos across the state 

and received responses from 23 of the state's 58 

LAFCos. Nearly 40% of respondents indicated they 

preferred outright annexation to extraterritorial 

service agreements whereas 52% reported having 

no pre-set preference. 

Even when a LAFCo has a preference, however, 

they may still approve exceptions based on specific 

circumstances. For example, under California law, 

LAFCos may (but are not required to) approve a 

request for a service extension outside of a service 

providers' jurisdictional boundary and sphere of 

influence to respond to an "existing or impending 

threat to the health and safety of the public or the 

residents of the affected territory". 6 More than two

thirds of survey respondents indicated they had 

approved such a request in their county. Notably the 

requirements for doing so vary between counties. 

Some counties require only a letter from an affected 

local government body, while others require expert 

documentation of the threat. 

Beyond the need to coordinate with LAFCo on 

the structure of a proposed consolidation, LAFCo 

involvement has another important implication: 

Fees. Given that LAFCos are authorized to collect 

LAFCo and Water System Consoltdat1on 5 

025



Bridging Differences In Terminology 

This report uses the term "consolidation" in a broad sense to mean the formal merging of some or all 
functions of drinking water provision between two or more water providers or communities. Consolidation, 
in this drinking-water focused sense, can happen through a variety of different pathways that vary in not 
only their implementation but also outcomes (for more information see the 2022 guide Designing Water 
System Consolidations). Under this definition, consolidation can include the physical interconnection of 
existing water system infrastructure (physical consolidation) but it does not have to. Consolidation may 
instead entail merging only the governance and management functions of two pre-existing systems 
(managerial consolidation) or extending a water system to serve a domestic well community or new 
development. This inclusive definition is informed by, and aligned with, the definition state drinking water 
regulators and community water advocates employ. 

However, for a LAFCo, the term consolidation refers to a narrowly defined legal process, closely constrained 
by state law. The CKH Act defines consolidation as "the uniting or joining of two or more cities located in the 
same county into a single new successor city or two or more districts into a single new successor district." 
Consolidation in a LAFCo sense always entails the creation of an entirely new district. 

While largely semantic, this difference can cause confusion. Projects such as the extension of a community 
water system to serve residents previously reliant on a state small water system or where a special district 
like a County Service Area is absorbed into a neighboring city would both be commonly referred to as 
consolidations among drinking water stakeholders. To a LAFCo representative, however, many such 
"consolidations• are instead understood as extensions of service, annexations, reorganizations, and/or 
dissolutions. 

fees for services and studies and that some rely on 

these fees to cover the associated costs of those 

additional reviews, those seeking to consolidate 

drinking water services may have to bear the cost 

of any related study required by state law. LAFCos 

have some degree of autonomy in setting fees to 

compensate for staff time. As such, relevant fees 

vary significantly between counties. Of the 23 

LAFCos that responded to our survey, estimated 

total fees associated with a consolidation project 

ranged from $0 to $50,000, depending on the LAFCo 

and the complexity of the project. Seventy percent 

of survey respondents said that they waive fees 

under specific circumstances, the remainder 

indicated that fee waivers were not available. 

Municipal Service Reviews 

Beyond regulating local government boundaries, 

LAFCos also play an important role in evaluating 

municipal services within their county and making 

recommendations for improvements. The CKH 

Act mandates that every five years, as necessary, 

LAFCos review and update the designated sphere 

of influence for each city and special district 

under their jurisdiction.7 Prior to establishing 

or updating a sphere of influence, LAFCos must 

perform a special study called a Municipal Service 

Review (MSR). MSRs are comprehensive studies 

designed to better inform LAFCo, local agencies, 

and the community about the provision of municipal 

services. MSRs can be conducted individually for 

specific cities or districts, covering all services, 

or on a county-wide or regional basis focused on 

specific services. 

Based on these requirements, some LAFCos 

conduct regular MSRs while others do so only when 

necessary, such as when a sphere of influence 

issues arise. Budget and capacity constraints are a 

major factor influencing how frequently MS Rs are 

conducted. Some LAFCos reported in interviews 

that they did not conduct MSRs as frequently as 

they would like due to high costs. 

The requirements related to MSR contents are 

also loosely bounded, meaning that in practice, 

the content and level of detail varies by county. 

Ideally an MSR will have insights into the kinds of 

things those pursuing consolidation would likely 

be interested in - water quality, water source 

reliability, fiscal stability, managerial capacity, and 

technical expertise. Take for example the recent 

Countywide Water Service and Sphere Review by 

Santa Cruz County which provides significant detail 

LAFCo and Water System Consohdation 6 

026



on system finances, water rates, transparency and 

local accountability among other items.8 In other

cases, MSRs may have few of these details and 

thus provide little in the way of local insights either 

supporting or challenging consolidation efforts 

(capacity can also be a factor here). By statute, 

LAFCos are authorized to request information from 

privately owned water systems as part of their 

reviews including from mutual water companies. 9

Notably, very few LAFCos currently do so and some 

LAFCos report mutual water companies have failed 

to respond to requests for information when they 

have attempted to include them in MSRs. 

Approval of new public water systems 

Recognizing the importance of stopping the 

further proliferation of potentially unsustainable 

small water systems throughout the state, 

recent regulatory changes now require that 

all applications for new public water systems10 

must be approved by the SWRCB. Applicants 

wishing to construct a new system must apply at 

least six months before initiating water-related 

development with an accompanying "preliminary 

technical report." The preliminary technical report 

must analyze the feasibility of connecting to any 

public water systems within three miles, assess 

the twenty-year costs of operating the proposed 

system, and evaluate the sustainability and 

Section II: Challenges 

Based on our interviews and survey results, in 

this section we describe seven key challenges that 

limit effective coordination between state and local 

regulators with respect to water system consolida

tion, both among existing and new systems. 

Lack of communication and information 

sharing between LAFCos and drinking water 

regulators 

Although LAFCos, the State Water Resources 

Control Board (SWRCB), and the California Public 

Utilities Commission (CPUC) all play key roles relevant 

to drinking water system consolidations, each has 

a unique niche in the enforcement patchwork, and 

38% of LAFCos report that 

they evaluate the feasibility 

of consolidation as part of 

their MSR process and 61% 

report that they recommend 

consolidation in MSR findings 

where warranted. 

resilience of the proposed system long-term. As 

part of the assessment of consolidation feasibility, 

an applicant needs to document contact with LAFCo 

regarding the identified existing water systems. 

Approval of non-water system related development 

(e.g., a warehouse facility to be served by the 

proposed water system), however, remains a local 

decision and LAFCos retain final authority on areas 

where services can be provided by the existing 

water systems of cities and special districts. Thus, 

there is potential for inconsistent determinations 

between state and local authorities, which could 

cause delays and/or lead to potential litigation. 

These changes increase the need for coordination 

between state drinking water regulators and local 

authorities regarding when and where the creation 

of new water systems is appropriate. 

communication between these agencies is limited. 

While, in many cases, LAFCos rely on publicly 

available SWRCB data in developing their MSRs for 

water services, the MSR process also often gener

ates new information about the status of local water 

providers, especially regarding the state of system 

governance and finances. This information can be 

highly relevant to understanding the potential of 

a system to encounter future challenges. Yet only 

30% of surveyed LAFCos report sharing their MSR 

findings with drinking water regulators. And while 

some SWRCB staff do independently seek out and 

use MSRs when working with a system, not all MSRs 

are publicly available online. 

LAFCo and Water System Consolidation 7 

027



This lack of information sharing mirrors a 
general lack of communication between local plan
ners and state drinking water regulators. Nearly all 
LAFCo Executive Officers we interviewed reported 
only infrequent contact with state drinking water 
regulators. The lack of communication creates 
issues in both directions. On the one hand, the 
SWRCB may have information about the challenges 
of local agencies unavailable to LAFCos who often 
only have infrequent communications with the small 
water providers under their jurisdiction. Similarly, 
a LAFCo might be aware of issues which could merit 
consolidation in the future. These systems might 
be good candidates for SWRCB intervention, but 
intervention is unlikely if information does not flow 
between agencies. On the other hand, the SWRCB 
may pursue solutions such as consolidation without 
a clear understanding of locally specific challenges 
such as conflicting policies, or potential political 
barriers. 

California's other key water agency, the CPUC, 
regulates Investor-Owned Utilities. The CPUC 
communicates even less frequently with LAFCos 
than the SWRCB. This is not surprising, given that 
LAFCos do not regulate private utilities. But in 
some cases, LAFCos might be ignorant of poten
tial privately-owned consolidation partners for 
troubled local government systems or vice-versa, 
of struggling private systems where governmental 
systems could expand their service area. Addition
ally, consolidations involving Investor-Owned Utili
ties (referred to by the CPUC as acquisitions) can 
significantly impact local development. Currently 
there are no specific mechanisms for LAFCos to 
provide feedback to the CPUC on these matters 
except to file a motion for party status in an acquisi
tion proceeding which is subject to approval and 
conditions by a judge. 

Lack of shared language and vision 

Sometimes, when drinking water stake
holders interested in water system consolidations 
encounter LAFCos, they find the experience to 
be frustrating. Often, part of the problem is that 
LAFCos do not share a common vision or even use 
the same language to talk about consolidations. 
As previously mentioned, for LAFCo staff the term 

wconsolidation" refers to a specific legal process, 
not a broad suite of options. Conversations that 
casually use the term consolidation can thus create 
confusion, since many water system consolidation 
projects fall under LAFCo descriptions for annexa
tions, dissolutions, extraterritorial service agree
ments, or other arrangements. 

But this challenge is not only semantic. While all 
parties share a commitment to ensuring efficient, 
equitable local services, the goals that motivate 
system consolidation and the metrics by which 
wsuccess" is assessed in these projects can also 
vary. State regulators tend to prioritize projects on 
the basis of Safe Drinking Water Act compliance, 
cost, and improving system sustainability (i.e., 
targeting "at-risk" systems). Overall LAFCos take 
a broader perspective, including considering 
impacts to different community services as well as 
county-wide impacts and consistency in long-term 
planning. This is well demonstrated by the fact that 
surveyed LAFCos reported considering, on average, 
more than five different factors when reviewing 
consolidation-related applications (Figure 1). Among 
these considerations, 30% of LAFCos reported that 
ensuring adequate Technical, Managerial, and 
Financial (TMF) capacity was the most important, 
followed by ensuring logical service boundaries and 
increasing access to safe and affordable drinking 
water, each of which was voted most important 
26% of respondents. Notably, whereas preventing 
and reversing water system fragmentation is a top 
priority of the SWRCB, this consideration did not 
rise to the top among LAFCOs, only 70% of which 
said they consider system fragmentation when 
reviewing consolidation-related applications. 

Diversity in local implementation 

All LAFCos are governed by the CKH Act, but 
policy occurs just as much in implementation as 
in statute. Because the CKH leaves substantial 
autonomy for local LAFCos to tailor their opera
tions to local conditions, implementation varies 
substantially from LAFCo to LAFCo. The state's 
rules have few hard guidelines except when it 
comes to specific procedural actions. 

For example, according to statute, LAFCos 
are supposed to interpret any requests to 

LAFCo and Water System Consolidation 8 

028



Figure 1. LAFCo considerations in reviewing consolidation related applications by frequency. 

Ensuring logical service boundaries 

Addressing service needs in 

disadvantaged unincorporated areas 

Ensuring adequate TMF capacity 

Increasing access to safe 

and affordable drinking water 

Reducing fragmentation 

among water service providers 

Ensuring adequate representation 

Preventing sprawl 

Other 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

■ Percent of survey respondents that reported considering this factor in reviewing

consolidation-related applications

accommodate a system consolidation based on the 
potential costs and savings, as well as other impacts 
to local residents. This open-ended set of criteria 
leaves room for interpretation leading LAFCos to 
review a wide range of factors as mentioned above. 
This statute language also allows for LAFCos to 
have different local policies leading some LAFCos to 
prioritize specific planning goals, like the prevention 
of urban sprawl or addressing service needs in 
unincorporated areas. 

LAFCos vary substantially in their preferences 
regarding consolidation pathways. Technical 
assistance providers may select a consolidation 
pathway which they think will best suit the needs 
of the community they work with. LAFCos will 
tend to take a more holistic view and measure the 
proposed benefits of any consolidation project 
against the potential impact on development and 
services county-wide. For example, if a consolida
tion of private wells into a nearby municipal system 
would extend that city's sphere of influence into 

an area slated for non-development purposes, the 
LAFCo may oppose the project for fear of losing 
open space. In many cases there are workable 
compromises that can be found if these goals and 
constraints are clearly communicated, for example 
pursuing an Extraterritorial Service Agreement 
(also called Out-of-Agency, Out-of-Boundary or 
Outside Service Agreements depending on the 
county).11

Unclear roles and responsibilities 

While the SWRCB is committed to stopping and 
reversing the proliferation of small water systems 
as part of advancing the Human Right to Water (AB 
685), precisely because of the planning and local 
government implications, there are practical and 
political limits to their ability to do this work on their 
own. Yet there is ambiguity, and even disagree
ment, regarding what the role and responsibilities 
of local planners such as LAFCos is, or should be, 
with respect to advancing the same mission. 

LAFCo and Water System Consolidation 9 

029



Generally, LAFCos rely on the SWRCB to flag 

struggling systems and initiate consolidation 

processes rather than do so themselves (although 

in certain counties, LAFCos do sometimes play 

a more central role in promoting projects). 

However, LAFCos do not necessarily view this as 

a positive from a local policy standpoint. Several 

LAFCos indicated that state-level policymakers 

and agencies generally lacked an understanding 

of the intricacies of local implementation of 

consolidations. Some also regarded state-initiated 

projects without adequate state financial support 

as unfunded burdens for the affected communities 

and for LAFCos themselves. 

But locally initiating projects has its own 

challenges. California state law is clear that, in 

some circumstances, LAFCos have the power 

to initiate water system consolidations through 

district dissolution, even without the consent of 

targeted district.12 These types of consolidations

are rare, however, for several reasons. Perhaps 

unsurprisingly, LAFCo commissioners are often 

reluctant to go against locally elected political 

leaders- some of whom may even sit on the LAFCo 

commission themselves. Second, such actions 

are subject to public hearings and can be blocked 

by formal protests from residents, an outcome 

which is more likely because the threshold for 

popular motions to block the action is lower in 

LAFCo-initiated proceedings. Third, LAFCos are 

generally reluctant to force other systems to take 

Nearly 40% of LAFCos report 

facilitating or supporting local 

consolidation projects whereas 

less than 9% report initiating 

consolidation projects. 

on new customers, even if the receiving system is 

best suited to serve those communities. LAFCos 

generally operate under tight budgets and with 

limited staff, and thus generally require a project 

proponent to fund any necessary studies to 

proceed with a dissolution rather than take on the 

cost from their own budget. Additionally, LAFCos 

are prohibited from initiating certain consolidation 

pathways, such as annexations. Thus, even if a 

LAFCo knows consolidation is the best choice, they 

rarely act as proponents. An exception to this trend 

is when a local scandal erupts, either around system 

governance or water quality. 

This does not mean, however, that LAFCos 

do not view themselves as having any role in 

consolidations. For some LAFCos, considering 

consolidation options is already a part of their 

standard operations. Thirty-two percent of 

surveyed LAFCos reported assessing the feasibility 

of consolidations as part of MSRs for drinking 

water service providers. Sixty percent reported 

recommending system consolidation as part of 

Co solidati .g Sativa County Water District Post Scandal 

When some Compton residents began to notice discolored water in their taps in the spring of 2018, popular 

protests erupted. One entity was not surprised. Los Angeles (LA) LAFCo had flagged the water provider, the 

Sativa County Water District, as struggling in multiple categories as early as 2005, and staff had 

recommended outright dissolution of the agency to the commission in 2012. However, despite these red flags, 

the agency continued to operate, and no consolidation efforts were formally initiated, either locally or by the 

SWRCB. When the protests began, however, LA LAFCo was prepared to spring into action. With the changed 

political winds following the fallout from the scandal, the commission was able to initiate a dissolution 

process for Sativa just two months after complaints first arose and soon thereafter work with the state to 

allow the county to temporarily takeover operations while all parties looked for a new permanent provider. 

The case of Sativa highlights just how effective a well-resourced LAFCo can be in dealing with a local crisis. 

But the case also provides an example of how a lack of coordination around system dissolution priorities and 

political inertia can led to a crisis in the first place. A more aggressive approach locally, or better 

coordination from the SWRCB, might have dealt with the issues at Sativa before brown water flowed out of 

residents' taps. Nonetheless, LA LAFCo's quick response and effective collaboration between local and state 

regulators headed off the problem before things got worse. 

LAFCo and Water System Consolidation 10 

030



MSRs based on assessments of water supply, 

governance, proximity to other systems, or other 

factors. In these cases, our interviews reveal that 

most LAFCos view the initiative to then fall on the 

individual system boards to explore possible options 

for consolidations or alternatively, for the SWRCB 

to intervene if a system is underperforming to such 

a degree to require consolidation. 

As a result, most consolidation projects in 

California are initiated by, or in partnership with, the 

SWRCB. Due to the SWRCB's responsibilities under 

the Safe Drinking Water Act, these consolidations 

tend to target existing or imminent health and safety 

concerns. A more proactive approach to other 

types of potentially challenged systems - such 

as small systems with governance issues, those 

unable to raise capital or with retiring staff or those 

particularly vulnerable to climate disasters - has 

so far not been on the agenda for lack of a clear 

responsible party or champion. 

Gaps in relevant authorities 

In addition to ambiguity about the role of 

LAFCos in reversing water system fragmentation, 

the fact that not all water systems are subject to the 

jurisdiction of LAFCos limits even the potential for 

LAFCos to support consolidation projects. Water 

systems are regulated by a patchwork of state and 

local agencies, depending on the structure of the 

system and other key factors. Because of this, some 

of the systems most suitable for consolidation fall 

between the cracks. 

LAFCos only regulate and review cities and 

special districts, not private firms. Yet many 

struggling water systems are private systems, 

like mobile home parks or mutual water companies, 

which unlike Investor-Owned Utilities, are not 

regulated by the CPUC. State policymakers have 

noticed this oversight and granted LAFCos the 

ability to include information for private water 

systems operating in their county in MSRs. 

However, doing so is optional, and often inhibited 

by resource and information constraints. Because 

most LAFCos have their hands full performing MS Rs 

for the public agencies under their jurisdiction, 

very few have included mutual water companies, 

mobile home parks, or other small systems in their 

MSR cycles, and most do not anticipate doing so in 

Resident Support Is Often Non-Negotiable 

Most LAFCo actions, such as district dissolutions 
and annexations, are subject to protest by 
registered voters and landowners in the affected 
territory. Generally, if more than 25% of the 
voters or landowners representing 25% of the 
assessed value of land in the area submit written 
protests, the change must then be approved by 
voters in an election which is a costly and 
time-consuming undertaking. In some instances, 
namely if LAFCo initiates the boundary change 
itself, this threshold is lowered to 10%. Moreover, 
some LAFCo actions that can be needed for a 
consolidation project, like the creation of new 
special district, always require a local election. 
This means that regardless of whether a 
consolidation project is initiated by the state or a 
local proponent, resident support is usually 
critical to successful implementation. 

the future. While LAFCos might seem to be natural 

agencies to promote consolidation for these types 

of systems, they ultimately do not have either the 

statutory mandate, funding, or powers to do so. 

Competing local priorities 

LAFCos are political organizations primarily 

composed of elected officials. As such, local politics 

matter a lot. If a local agency's board does not 

favor consolidation, even for a consolidation that is 

logical and feasible, LAFCo commissioners may be 

reluctant to force the issue to avoid controversy or 

protect local relationships. The same can be true 

for supporting new development. To the extent that 

a new water system is tied to a politically favored 

development project or powerful local interests, 

LAFCos may be subject to significant political 

pressure to support the preliminary technical 

report required by the SWRCB. 

County specific priorities and policies can also 

impede consolidation efforts. One such example 

is the issue of limiting urban sprawl. If a consoli

dation project is seen to have the potential for 

increasing development in an area the county has 

earmarked for light or no development, a LAFCo 

might be unlikely to approve the consolidation. 

Notably, such concerns are county specific. Only 

48% of survey respondents listed preventing sprawl 

as a factor for approving consolidation-related 

LAFCo and Water System Consolidation 11 

031



applications. However, it is increasingly common 

for municipalities or special districts to implement 

their own moratoriums on new connections. Such 

moratoriums serve to arrest new development, but 

they can also prevent the consolidation of water 

services for existing peripheral residents. 

Importantly, local priorities and interests can 

also have positive effects on efforts to increase 

water system consolidation. When locals identify 

system fragmentation as a major concern, LAFCo 

staff can work effectively to foster consolidation 

in unique ways. Tulare County, for example, has 

completed more than 16 consolidations since 2015, 

in part due to the active involvement and support 

from the Board of Supervisors. 

Limited and uneven LAFCo resources 

LAFCos have uneven funding levels across the 

state. Because represented agencies are a primary 

source of funds, counties with small numbers of cities, 

Section Ill: Recommendations 

Based on the challenges outlined in the previous 

section, the following recommendations highlight 

potential pathways for addressing the existing gaps 

and improving alignment between local and state 

regulators organized around three key themes: 

Improving information sharing and communication 

between regulators; Identifying consolidation 

opportunities; and Advancing locally-driven 

consolidation projects. 

Improving information sharing and 

communication between regulators 

• Ensure regular, sustained communication

between LAFCos and state drinking water regu

lators: Locally, LAFCo, the SWRCB, and the CPUC

(as applicable) should routinely meet to discuss

failing and at-risk systems within each county.

Such meetings would present the opportunity

for each party to share the information on

specific systems as well as identify promising

partnerships across a range of system types

that are consistent with local plans and policies.

When distinct from LAFCo staff, county planners

special districts, or both, typically have small LAFCo 

budgets. In some of these counties, LAFCo work may 

be handled on a contract basis by the county planning 

department or be contracted out to a private firm. By 

contrast, counties with large amounts of regulated 

agencies, like San Diego or Los Angeles, often have 

relatively large LAFCo budgets. 

In many cases, funding levels can directly 

correspond to staffing levels. LAFCos in counties 

with low staffing levels may be harder to contact and 

necessary procedures may take longer, especially 

if there is no full-time staff. MSRs in such counties 

may also be updated less frequently than would 

be preferred if local capacity was higher. Limited 

resources can also lead to over-reliance on fees 

associated with studies and applications, which can 

in turn increase costs and impede a county's ability 

to offer fee waivers. As previously mentioned, only 

about two-thirds of the 23 LAFCos who responded to 

our survey offered fee waivers for studies. 

should also be included. At the state-level, bian

nual LAFCo conferences and SWRCB's internal 

staff training programs present opportunities 

for cross-learning on relevant topics with the 

potential to increase collaboration. Regular 

communication would go a long way to increasing 

mutual understanding of relevant priorities and 

limitations as well as overcoming terminology 

and other barriers. 

• Transmit and connect information from MSRs

and the annual state drinking water needs

assessment: Currently, both MSRs and the annual

SWRCB drinking water needs assessments

contain information helpful for assessing the

functioning and sustainability of community

water systems operated by cities and special

districts. Systematically sharing these findings

would help connect relevant knowledge from the

local and state agencies and align with the Open

and Transparent Water Data Act. At a minimum,

MSRs should be readily accessible online and

county-level meetings can support their use by 

the SWRCB. Most LAFCos that responded to the

LAFCo and Water System Consolidation 12 

032



survey support this type of information sharing 

(See Figure 2). In the future, the SWRCB could 

create formal pathways for integrating MSR 

data and/or the state legislature could consider 

changes to require information sharing and 

coordination. 

• Clarify and message relevant state goals: Many

LAFCos are eager to support state efforts for

advancing safe, accessible, and affordable

drinking water and climate resilience but do not

have a clear understanding of state priorities on

these topics nor the type of performance metrics

they could use to assess and advance these goals

locally. The state should develop clear resources

that can guide LAFCos in the development of

MSRs and inform local decision-making about

service boundaries.

• Ensure early coordination on system consolidation 

projects: For project proponents, ensuring

early coordination between communities, the

SWRCB, technical assistance providers and

LAFCo staff is essential. Consolidation can be

accomplished through many potential pathways

that must be matched with local conditions. It is

therefore important to learn what pathways are

preferred or even possible locally and why. If a

LAFCo has formal or informal policies related

to consolidation, they should be shared as

soon as possible. Having this information as a

project is developed will help ensure alignment

with local planning and promote success. Early

communication can also help avoid unnecessary

delays in planning or implementation by

anticipating fees, processing times, etc.

• Ensure early coordination on proposals that

implicate new public water systems: State

regulators, LAFCos, and counties should

communicate as early as possible about

development proposals that explicitly or implicitly

could lead to the creation of a new public

water system. Early coordination on priorities

and limitations at both levels will help prevent

inconsistencies that could lead to conflict and

delay.

Identifying consolidation opportunities 

• Ensure robust and regular MSRs for drinking

water service providers: Municipal Service 

Reviews (MSRs) are a valuable opportunity to 

both assess the functioning of local service 

providers and make recommendations for 

improvements. Ensuring that thorough MSRs are 

conducted regularly throughout the state could 

go a long way towards identifying and advancing 

consolidations. Importantly, identifying funding 

sources to support this work is likely key to 

achieving this goal. 

• Standardize assessment of consolidation

feasibility as a part of the MSR process and

recommend consolidation, as appropriate,

in the findings: California state law requires

that LAFCos explore "opportunities for shared

facilities" for public water systems as a part of

their MSR process. Some LAFCos go beyond

this requirement to assess consolidation

opportunities for some or all systems under

their jurisdiction. All LAFCos should do so with

an eye not only for physical consolidations

but also managerial consolidations and water

system partnerships (e.g., shared staff). Where

appropriate based on these findings, LAFCos

should make formal recommendations for

consolidation as part of their MSR findings.

While not all counties responded to our survey,

the results demonstrate unanimously support

for both actions among those who did.

• Fill data and oversight gaps for under-regulated

water systems: LAFCos collect and maintain

important information about the water systems

operated by municipalities and special districts

in their jurisdictions. The CPUC maintains similar

information for the state's Investor-Owned

Utilities. For other private water systems like

mutual water companies and mobile home parks

data collection is limited to the drinking water

needs assessment which necessarily provides

very limited insights on system governance and

management. Figuring out how to fill this gap

should be a state priority. For example, these

systems could be subject to reporting and

oversight by the CPUC or included in MSRs.

• Proactively identify priority consolidations and

tie these into other opportunities for boundary

expansion: Some systems are reluctant to receive

LAFCo and Water System Consohdat1on 13 

033



Figure 2. Existing practices and policy preferences among surveyed LAFCos for addressing 
local water challenges. 

Recommend consolidation as needed 
as part of municipal service reviews 

Facilitate/support the implementation 
of local consolidation projects 

Evaluate the feasibility of water system 
consolidation within the county 

Communicate findings from municipal 
service reviews to drinking water regulators 

Precondition/incentivize system 
consolidations where opportunities arise 

I 

Initiate system consolidations tJ 
where opportunities arise -

0% 

I 

20% 40% 6% 80% 100% 

Currently doing ■ Nol currently doing but would support

customers from struggling systems but are 

happy to expand with greenfield development. 

Working with both state drinking water regu

lators and local water managers (e.g. Ground

water Sustainability Agencies), LAFCos should 

develop and maintain a list of priority consoli

dation projects in their county. LAFCos should 

then use their existing authorities to tie these 

projects to locally promoted boundary changes, 

for example, annexations or sphere of influence 

updates, when feasible. More than 80% of LAFCos 

that responded to the survey support this type 

of approach. 

• Clarify roles for identifying and promoting potential

consolidations: Currently the SWRCB is the

primary entity identifying potential consolidation

projects and initiating conversations with

a particular focus on "failing systems" with

pressing health and safety concerns and those

at-risk of failing. There is a need to clarify who

else, if anyone, should take responsibility tor

identifying and initiating potential consolidations

among different subsets of systems such as

privately-owned non-Investor-Owned Utilities 

and low-hanging fruit consolidations (e.g., based 

on proximity or where system managers wish 

to retire). 

Advancing locally-driven consolidation 

projects 

• Reduce financial impediments to locally-driven

consolidations: Proposed consolidations entail

LAFCo related costs to be borne by a project

proponent and/or the LAFCo itself. As such,

promising projects can languish if they are not

financially supported by the SWRCB and/or

a local government proponent. Establishing a

funding source to support LAFCos or other local

proponents to advance consolidation projects

could help increase the number of locally initiated

projects. Similarly, state and federal funding and

technical assistance is often essential to make

consolidation feasible. Creating clear pathways

for accessing these resources for locally-initiated

projects could similarly increase local leadership

on the issue.

LAFCo and Water System Consolidation 14 

034



• Reduce administrative and procedural hurdles

to implementing consolidations: Consolidation is

a complicated and difficult process constrained

by convoluted statutes with significant limitations

and even contradictions. Often a single consoli

dation project may trigger several concurrent

actions which only further increases the admin

istrative burden and associated costs. To every

extent possible, the associated statutory require

ments should be clarified and streamlined.

• Create local pathways for consolidation of mutual

water companies, mobile home park systems,

and other small private systems: LAFCos do not

have authority over private water systems and

therefore cannot initiate consolidation among

them. Thus, the state must explore possibilities

to promote the consolidation of small private

systems that are not Investor-Owned Utilities.

• Allow LAFCos to initiate annexations: Currently

LAFCos can initiate dissolutions but not annexa

tions. Given that annexation is a common and

often preferred mechanism for consolidating

water systems, granting LAFCos the ability to

initiate annexations could increase the number

of projects advanced locally.

• Ensure technical assistance providers working

on consolidations have a clear understanding of

work plan elements and project requirements

related to LAFCo: The SWRCB should provide

technical assistance providers clear guidance

for addressing the local planning dimensions of

consolidations including working with LAFCo.

Ensuring that LAFCo tasks and expenses are

accounted for in work plans and budgets will

streamline implementation.

LAFCo and Water System Consolidation 15 

035



Resources and Further Reading 
Assembly Committee on Local Government. (2023). Guide to the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local 

Government Reorganization Act of 2000. https://alcl.assembly.ca.gov/system/files/2024-01/ 

ckh-local-goverment-reorganization-act-of-2000-2023.pdf 

Bui, T. & Ihrke, B. (2003). It's time to draw the line: A citizen's guide to LAFCos. 

https://humboldtLAFCo.org/wp-content/uploads/TimetoDrawLine LAFCos.pdf 

Dobbin, K., McBride, J. & Pierce, G. (2022). Designing Water Systems Consolidation Projects. 

https://innovation.luskin.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/Designing-Water-System

Consolidation-Projects.pdf 

Senate Governance and Finance Committee. (2013). 50 Years of LAFCos: A guide to LAFCos. 

https://caLAFCo.org/sites/default/files/resources/50%20Years%20of%20LAFCos%20 

%282013%29%20-%20A%20guide%20to%20LAFCos 0.pdf 

State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB). (2021). Permits for Water Systems. 

https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking water/certlic/drinkingwater/Permits.html 

State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB). (2023). Drinking water system partnerships and 

consolidations. https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking water/certlic/drinkingwater/ 

waterpartnership.html 

US Water Alliance. (2022). Catalyzing Community-Driven Utility Consolidations and Partnerships. 

https://uswateralliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Catalyzing-Community-Driven-Utility

Consolidations-and-Partnerships-PAGES 0.pdf 

LAFCo and Water System Consolidation 16 

036



Appendix 

LAFCo information and select survey results by county 

County # of Staff Offers Fee Wavers? 

Alameda 2 N 

Alpine 1 Did not respond to survey 

Amador 4 Did not respond to survey 

Butte 4 y 

Calaveras 2 Did not respond to survey 

Colusa 2 Did not respond to survey 

Contra Costa 2 y 

Del Norte 2 Did not respond to survey 

El Dorado 2 y 

Fresno 5 Did not respond to survey 

Glenn 1 Did not respond to survey 

Humboldt 3 Did not respond to survey 

Imperial 4 Did not respond to survey 

Inyo 2 Did not respond to survey 

Kern 3 Did not respond to survey 

Kings 2 Did not respond to survey 

Lake 2 Did not respond to survey 

Lassen 3 Did not respond to survey 

Los Angeles 7 y 

Madera 2 N 

Marin 2 Did not respond to survey 

Mariposa 1 Did not respond to survey 

Mendocino 2 Did not respond to survey 

Merced 2 N 

Modoc 2 Did not respond to survey 
--

Mono 1 Did not respond to survey 

Monterey 4 Did not respond to survey 

Napa 2 y 

Approx. Range for 

Consolidation-Related Fees 

$6,500 • $13,000 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

$1,000-$25,000 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

$4,000 • $8,500 

Did not respond to survey 

$1,000-$50,000 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

$6,000 • $30,000 

$3,000 • $6,000 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

$2,000 • $5,000 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 
--- - -- -

$8,500 • $34,000 

LAFCo and Water System Consolidation 17 

037



County # of S taff 

Nevada 2 

Orange 5 

Placer 2 

Plumas 2 

Riverside 5 

Sacramento 2 

San Benito 2 

San Bernardino 4 

San Diego 10 

San Francisco 1 

San Joaquin 3 

San Luis Obispo 3 

San Mateo 3 

Santa Barbara 2 

Santa Clara 2 

Santa Cruz 2 

Shasta 2 

Sierra 1 

Siskiyou 2 

Solano 3 

Sonoma 3 

Stanislaus 3 

Sutter 3 

Tehama 1 

Trinity 2 

Tulare 3 

Tuolumne 2 

Ventura 3 

Yolo 2 

Yuba 2 

Offers Fee Wavers? 

Did not respond to survey 

N 

y 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

y 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

y 

Did not respond to survey 

N 

y 

y 

y 

y 

y 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

N 

y 

y 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

y 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

y 

Did not respond to survey 

Approx. Range for 
Consolidation-Related Fees 

Did not respond to survey 

$10,000 • $30,000 

$20,000 • $40,000 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

$3,000 • $10,000 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

$6,500 • $25,000 

Did not respond to survey 

$2,000 • $2,500 

$3,000 • $7,500 

$2,000 • $10,000 

$2,000 • $6,000 

$4,000 • $8,500 

$1,000 • $2,000 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

$7,500 • $35,000 

$4,000 • $6,000 

$500 • $3,500 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

$3,500 • $4,000 

Did not respond to survey 

Did not respond to survey 

$1,500 • $6,500 
--

Did not respond to survey 

LAFCo and Water System Consolidation 18 

038



References and Notes 

1 Dobbin, K. B., McBride, J., & Pierce, G. (2023). Panacea or placebo? The diverse pathways and implications of drinking water system 

consolidation. Water Resources Research, 59(12), https:(ldo1.org/10.1029/2023WR035179. 

2 CALAFCo website, What Are LAFCos responsibilities? Accessed 11/6/23. https:(lcaLAFCo.org/LAFCo-law/faq/what-are-LAFCos-

responsibilll1es 

3 CA Government Code §56000 et seq. 

4 CA Government Code §54950 et seq. 

5 A consolidating water system is a system that will stop providing drinking water service after a consolidation is completed. In contrast, 

a receiving water system is a system that continues to provide drinking water service including to new customers/territory added 

through the consolidation. 

6 CA Government Code §56133(c) 

7 CA Government Code §56425(g); A sphere of influence or SOI is a planning boundary outside of an agency's jurisdictional boundary 

(such as the city limit line or water service area) that designates the agency's probable future boundary and service area. 

8 Countywide Water Service and Sphere Review. Local Agency Formation Commission of Santa Cruz County. Accessed 01/22/24. 

https.(lsantacruzlafco.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/Countyw,de-Water-MSR-Adopted-Version.pdf 

9 CA Government Code §56430(7)(d) 

10 A public water system is a water system serving at least 15 connections or 25 people for a minimum of 60 days per year. This is the 

body of water systems that is regulated by the SWRCB under the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act. 

11 Extraterritorial, Out-of-Agency, Out-of-Boundary or Outside service agreements all refer to situations where a city or special district 

extend services outside of their jurisdictional boundaries. For drinking water service this means outside of their approved service 

area. Prior to 1994 service extensions only required LAFCo approval if they involved annexation. Since 1994 service extensions always 

require approval by LAFCo (with some exceptions such as the transfer of non-treated water). 

12 CA Government Code §56035; For a LAFCo, a dissolution entails the "disincorporation, extinguishment, or termination of the existence 

of a district and the cessation of all its corporate powers.' 

LAFCo and Water System Consolidation 19 

039


	August Meeting Agenda
	Agenda Item No.1 - Summary Minutes
	Agenda Item No. 2 - Highway 12 Investors Annexation to CSA 31 - Flag City and CSA 31 - Zone W
	Agenda Item No. 3 - LAFCo and Water System Consolidation: Bridging the gap between local and state regulators to stop and reverse water system fragmentation



